FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/21/2017 1:37 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No			
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON (Court of Appeals, Division III Cause No. 346927)			
SVN CORNERSTONE, LLC,			
a Washington Limited Liability Company,			
Petitioner,			
vs.			
N. 807 INCORPORATED, a Washington corporation, d/b/a BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY HOMESERVICES FIRST LOOK REAL ESTATE; KENNETH M. LEWIS AND MICHELLE S. LEWIS, and the marital community composed thereto; HENRY SEIPP AND JANE DOE SEIPP, and the marital community composed thereof,			
Respondents.			

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew T. Ries, Attorney for SVN Cornerstone, LLC, as Petitioner

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
	1.	Can Respondent Henry Seipp Unilaterally Modify The Independent Contractor Agreement Which Does Not Contain An Arbitration Clause, And Which Requires Modifications To Be In Writing And Signed By Both Parties, And Force Cornerstone To Arbitrate The Dispute According To The Commercial Brokers Association ("CBA") By-Laws?		
	2.	Should The Voluntary CBA Organization's By-Laws Govern The Dispute Resolution Procedure Between Mr. Seipp And Cornerstone Where The Parties Never Intended For The By- Laws To Govern The Dispute Over The Breach Of The Independent Contractor Agreement And Associated Causes Of Action? 1		
	3.	Should Respondents Berkshire And Mr. Lewis Be Bound To Litigate This Matter Pursuant To Their Agency Relationship With Mr. Seipp?		
	4.	Should Respondents Berkshire And Mr. Lewis Be Equitably Estopped From Compelling Arbitration?2		
D.	D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED				
	1.	The Court of Appeals' Decision is in Direct Conflict with the Published Division I Court of Appeals Decision of Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc		
	2.	Respondents Berkshire And Lewis As Principals Are Bound To Litigate This Matter Pursuant To Agency Relationship With Seipp		
	3.	Respondents Berkshire And Mr. Lewis Should Be Equitably Estopped From Compelling Arbitration17		
F.	CONCLUSION2			
A 1	PPE	NDIXA		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>PAGE</u>
Columbia Park Golf Course v. City of Kennewick, 160 Wn. App. 66, 82, 248 P.3d 1067 (2011)14
Comer v. Micor, Inc., 436 F.3d 1098, 1101 (9th Cir.2006)
Cornell University v. UAW Local 2300, 942 F.2d 138, 140 (2d Cir.1991)
David L. Threlkeld & Co. v. Metallgesellschaft Ltd. (London), 923 F.2d 245, 249 (2d Cir. 1991) 10, 12
Deloitte Noraudit A/S v. Deloitte Haskins & Sells, 9 F.3d 1060, 1064 (2d Cir.1993) 18
E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co. v. Rhone Poulenc Fiber & Resin Intermediates, 269 F.3d 187, 199 (3d Cir.2001)
Hellenic Inv. Fund, Inc. v. Det Norske Veritas, 464 F.3d 514, 517-18 (5th Cir.2006)
Keith Adams & Assoc., Inc. v. Edwards, 3 Wn. App. 623, 624, 477 P.2d 36 (1970) disapproved of on other grounds by Godfrey v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 885 (2001)9
<u>Legacy Wireless Servs., Inc. v. Human Capital, L.L.C.</u> , 314 F. Supp. 2d 1045, 1057 (D. Or. 2004)
Marcus & Millichap Real Estate Inv. Servs. of Seattle, Inc. v. Yates, Wood & MacDonald, Inc., 192 Wn. App. 465, 473, 369 P.3d 503, 506 (2016)
Mundi v. Union Sec. Life Ins. Co., 555 F.3d 1042, 1045-46 (9th Cir. 2009)
Nat. Ass'n of Realtors v. Champions Real Estate Servs. Inc., 812 F. Supp. 2d 1251, 1258 (W.D. Wash. 2011)
Necchi S.p.A. v. Necchi Sewing Machine Sales Corp., 348 F.2d 693, 698 (2d Cir.1965), cert. den., 383 U.S. 909, 86 S.Ct. 892, 15 L.Ed.2d 664 (1966)
Noble Drilling Servs, Inc. v. Certex USA, Inc., 620 F.3d 469, 473 (5th Cir.2010)
Phoenix Canada Oil Co. v. Texaco, Inc., 842 F.2d 1466, 1477 (3d Cir.1988)
Powell v. Sphere Drake Ins. P.L.C., 97 Wn. App. 890, 892, 988 P.2d 12, 13 (1999), as amended (Sept. 10, 1999)
S.A. Mineracao da Trinidade-Samitri v. Utah International, Inc., 745 F.2d 190, 196 (2d Cir.1984)
Thola v. Henschell, 140 Wn. App. 70, 78, 164 P.3d 524, 528 (2007)
Thomson-CSF, S.A. v. Am. Arbitration Ass'n, 64 F.3d 773, 779 (2d Cir. 1995)
<u>Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc.</u> , 127 Wn. App. 393, 111 P.3d 282 (Div. 1 2005) <u>rev. denied</u> , 156 Wn.2d 1025 (2006)
Townsend v. Quadrant Corp., 173 Wn.2d 451, 461, 268 P.3d 917, 922 (2012)
Wash. Mut. Fin. Group, LLC v. Bailey, 364 F.3d 260, 267 (5th Cir.2004)
RULES
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
STATUTES
RCW 18 85 201

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioner SVN CORNERSTONE, LLC, (hereinafter "Cornerstone"), by and through its attorney Matthew T. Ries of Stamper Rubens, P.S., hereby petitions this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this Motion.

B. <u>DECISION BELO</u>W

Cornerstone seeks review of the May 23, 2017 Court of Appeals Division III Opinion of SVN Cornerstone, LLC v. N. 807 Incorporated, et al., Court of Appeals Case No. 34692-7-III. A copy of the Decision is in the Appendix A at pages A1-A17.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Can Respondent Henry Seipp unilaterally modify the Independent Contractor Agreement which does not contain an arbitration clause, and which requires modifications to be in writing and signed by both parties, and force Cornerstone to arbitrate the dispute according to the Commercial Brokers Association ("CBA") by-laws?
- 2. Should the voluntary CBA organization's by-laws govern the dispute resolution procedure between Mr. Seipp and Cornerstone where the parties never intended for the by-laws to govern the dispute over the breach of the Independent Contractor Agreement and associated causes of action?

- 3. Should Respondents Berkshire and Mr. Lewis be bound to litigate this matter pursuant to their agency relationship with Mr. Seipp?
- 4. Should Respondents Berkshire and Mr. Lewis be equitably estopped from compelling arbitration?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 8, 2010, Respondent Henry Seipp entered into an Independent Contractor Agreement with Cornerstone to work as an independent contractor sales person and/or independent contractor/associate broker. Mr. Seipp had an office at Cornerstone's business located at 1311 N. Washington Street, Spokane, WA 99201. Mr. Seipp worked at Cornerstone's office as a real estate broker from 2010 until he began working as a broker for a competing real estate brokerage company, Respondent N. 807, Incorporated dba Berkshire Hathaway Homeservices First Look Real Estate (hereinafter "Berkshire"), on April 20, 2015. (CP 70).

This lawsuit stems from Mr. Seipp's violation of the Independent Contractor Agreement he entered into with Cornerstone, as well as associated tort claims that arise from that agreement and relationship. When Mr. Seipp left Cornerstone on April 20, 2015, he began to work for. Prior to Mr. Seipp leaving Cornerstone, he had been working with EZ

Properties, LLC to market and sell the Timber Court Apartments located at 2007 East 37th in the City of Spokane (hereinafter "Apartments"). Within two (2) days of starting at Berkshire, on April 22, 2015, EZ Properties, LLC accepted an offer to buy the Apartments and signed a Purchase and Sale Agreement. The buyer made the offer on April 13, 2015, when he signed the Purchase and Sale Agreement. (CP 70-71, 91-118). On April 22, 2015, the seller, EZ Properties, LLC, also executed an Exclusive Listing Agreement with Berkshire which appointed Henry Seipp to be the Seller's Listing Broker. (CP 393, 401-404). The sale for Apartments ultimately closed on January 20, 2016, for a purchase price of \$2,100,000. Berkshire and Mr. Seipp obtained a commission of 2% of the sale price, which amounted to \$42,000. (CP 71, 320-321).

Mr. Seipp's conduct was in direct violation of numerous provisions of the Independent Contractor Agreement. On April 29, 2016, Cornerstone initiated this lawsuit against Mr. Seipp as well as Berkshire and its owner and designated broker, Respondent Henry Lewis. Cornerstone's complaint sought damages and injunctive relief for breach of contract, unjust enrichment claims, tortious interference claims, violation of the Uniform Trade Secrets Act claims, conversion claims, and breach of fiduciary claims. (CP 3-13). Cornerstone believes that Mr. Seipp's breach of the Independent Contractor Agreement involves more

than this one transaction. Cornerstone believes that other violations of the contract have occurred with other transactions and other customers and pled its causes of action seeking relief for other transactions. (Paragraphs 4.4, 4.11, 4.14, and 4.16 of Complaint, CP 8-9).

Cornerstone's claims all stem from Mr. Seipp's breach of the Independent Contractor Agreement and his working relationship with Cornerstone. The Independent Contractor Agreement provides the venue for legal action would be in Spokane County, Washington. (See Paragraphs 7.3, CP 80). There is no arbitration provision the Independent Contractor Agreement. The Independent Contractor Agreement further contains an integration clause that provided that the Agreement and the attached exhibits represent the entire agreement between the parties, and that it cannot be modified unless done so in writing and signed by both parties. (See Paragraph 8.1, CP 80).

On May 27, 2016, the Respondents, who are all represented by the same law firm, filed a Motion to Dismiss this lawsuit based upon an arbitration provision in the by-laws of the CBA. The CBA rules have a three (3) month time limit to initiate an arbitration proceeding, and the Respondents argued that the matter was time barred. (CP 45-51, 34). Through the limited time to conduct discovery before filing the response

memorandum and pleadings, Cornerstone learned that Respondents Mr. Seipp, Mr. Lewis, and Berkshire all became members of the CBA on April 24, 2015. (CP 141-142, 155-157, 234-236). This was two days after EZ Properties, LLC executed the Exclusive Listing Agreement appointed Mr. Seipp to be EZ Properties, LLC's Listing Agent, and two days after EZ Properties signed Purchase and Sale Agreement for the sale of the Apartments.

The CBA is a multiple listing company. It is a voluntary organization that brokers may join in this State. There is no requirement by the State of Washington that a broker join the CBA. (CP 72). Mr. Seipp had never been a member in the all the years he worked at Cornerstone. (CP 72). The CBA arbitration rules provide that the hearing is to be decided by a panel of brokers who are not attorneys, and that the arbitrators may consider the law, but are not bound to follow it. (CP 190, 179 [Rule 4], 183 [Rule 32]). The Respondents joined the CBA in a clear attempt to take advantage of the informal arbitration proceeding.

The Trial Court Judge, The Honorable John O. Cooney, denied the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss this lawsuit, recognizing that Cornerstone's causes of action stem from Mr. Seipp's breach of the Independent Contractor Agreement. Mr. Seipp did not become a member

of the CBA until after he left working at Cornerstone. (VRP 18-19). Judge Cooney correctly recognized that the Independent Contractor Agreement did not contain an arbitration clause. The case that the Appellants primarily rely upon, Marcus & Millichap Real Estate Inv. Servs. of Seattle, Inc. v. Yates, Wood & MacDonald, Inc., 192 Wn. App. 465, 473, 369 P.3d 503, 506 (2016), rev. denied 185 Wn.2d 1041 (2016), was distinguishable because it did not involve a situation where there was a separate contract between the parties such as the Independent Contractor Agreement. Marcus & Millichap dealt only with two members of the CBA disputing a commission. Judge Cooney rejected the argument that the arbitration provision in the CBA bylaws would supersede the Independent Contractor Agreement. (VRP 19-20). To impose arbitration would modify the terms of the Independent Contractor Agreement which would violate the provisions of 8.1 of the Independent Contractor Agreement since such modification was not in writing and signed by both parties contrary to the integration clause. (VRP 19-20).

Judge Cooney further rejected the Defendants' Motion because this lawsuit involves more than simply a dispute over the division of a commission. This lawsuit involves not only this one transaction, but also claims involving Cornerstone's other customers and transactions. The informal arbitration process before a panel of three layperson realtors is

not the appropriate venue for litigate breach of contract, unjust enrichment claims, tortious interference claims, violation of the Uniform Trade Secrets Act claims, conversion claims, and breach of fiduciary claims. (VRP 20).

The Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal on August 18, 2016, before they answered any of the written discovery. Cornerstone has not been able to engage in discovery of the Appellants' conduct with regard to not only the transaction involving the Apartments, but also the Appellants' conduct with regard to Cornerstone's other customers and other transactions.

The Court of Appeals issued its opinion on May 23, 2017, reversing the Trial Court in part, and ordering that certain matters proceed with arbitration pursuant to the CBA by-laws. Other matters such as injunctive relief for violations of the Trade Secrets Act would remain with the Trial Court. The Court of Appeals has improperly allowed the Independent Contractor Agreement to be modified to include an arbitration provision in a separate CBA by-laws. The parties to the contract never intended to have their dispute decided by arbitration in the by-laws. The Court of Appeals' decision has created a very complicated procedure that will create piecemeal litigation. Cornerstone respectfully

requests that this Court accept this Petition for Review to address this situation.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Court of Appeals' Decision is in Direct Conflict with the Published Division I Court of Appeals Decision of Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc.

This Court should accept Cornerstone's Petition for Review because the Court of Appeal's decision is in direct conflict with the published decision of <u>Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc.</u>, 127 Wn. App. 393, 111 P.3d 282 (Div. I, 2005) <u>rev. denied</u> 156 Wn.2d 1025 (2006). RAP 13.4(b)(2). That case addressed a nearly identical situation as in this case and yet Division I of the Court of Appeals Division reached directly opposite conclusion as the Court of Appeals did in this case.

In the <u>Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc.</u> case, the commission based yacht salesmen sued his former employer for commissions allegedly owed. The employer moved for dismissal or stay pending arbitration of the dispute arguing that because both the commission based salesmen and the owner were members of the Northwest Yacht Brokers Association ("NYBA"), the matter should be arbitrated pursuant to the arbitration provision contained in the NYBA's by-laws. <u>Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc.</u>, 127 Wn. App. at 396. The Court concluded that there was no evidence by either Todd or Venwest that the NYBA's arbitration clause

was ever intended to play a role in their employment relationship. In the absence of some indication that they intended to be bound by the NYBA's arbitration clause their employment agreement, the court would not imply that intent. <u>Id</u>. at 400.

The Court of Appeals in this case distinguished the holding of Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc. as follows:

Because the court [in Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc.] could not determine a reasonable intended scope of the provision from its language, it necessarily looked to surrounding circumstances for the by-laws' drafter's intent, and concluded that the arbitration provision was not intended to cover members' employment relationships. reflects an approach to be followed only when intent cannot be determined from an arbitration provision's language. When (as here) intent can be determined from the language, it is irrelevant to the scope of an arbitration provision that membership in a professional organization is voluntary, Marcus, 192 Wn. App. at 475(citing Keith Adams, 3 Wn. App. at 624); or that the arbitration obligation is not reflected in a written agreement between the parties. Id. at 476 (Keith Adams, 3 Wn. App. at 625); or that the arbitration involves matters that are complex. . . .

(See page 9).

The Court of Appeals in this case, did not cite to any legal authority for its position that a court simply looks at the language in the arbitration clause to determine if it is ambiguous to determine its scope. The Court of Appeals in this case reached its conclusion by not following the legal analysis used by the Court in <u>Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc.</u> The

Court of Appeals in this case further did not consider or follow the substantial body of case law cited in <u>Todd v. Venwest Yachts</u>, <u>Inc.</u> addressing the scenario this case involves, and the rationale used by the courts. The courts which have addressed this issue analyze whether there was mutual *intent* of whether the parties to apply one contract document that contained an arbitration clause, to another contract that does not have an arbitration clause. The courts do not simply look at the language of the contract document that has the arbitration clause and determine if it is broad or narrow to determine if it applies to an earlier contract that does not have an arbitration clause, as the Court of Appeals has done in this case.

The Court of Appeals in <u>Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc.</u> began its analysis by explaining:

"Our inquiry is two-fold: whether the parties agreed to arbitrate, and, if so, whether the scope of that agreement encompasses the asserted claims." Venwest argues that the parties agreed to arbitrate by virtue of their memberships in the NYBA, so we must first determine whether the parties intended to be bound by the NYBA arbitration clause in their employment relationship.

Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc., 127 Wn. App. 393, 397, 111 P.3d 282, 284 (2005) (quoting David L. Threlkeld & Co. v. Metallgesellschaft Ltd. (London), 923 F.2d 245, 249 (2d Cir. 1991). In answering that question, the court did not look at the language of the arbitration clause to determine

if it was broad or narrow, or ambiguous. Rather, the court looked at contract law principles as to whether the latter contract (employment agreement) made the arbitration provision in the NYBA by-laws a term of that contract. The Court in Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc. analyzed two lines of cases where courts found the arbitration provision in a separate The first was where the contract specifically agreement applicable. incorporated the contract document including the arbitration clause by reference. Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc., 127 Wn. App. at 397-98. The second was where each of the security dealers were required to complete Uniform Application for Securities Industry Registration or Transfer Form U-4 (U-4) when they began work at a firm or transferred to a firm. Since all National Association of Securities Dealers' (NASD) members were required to execute those U-4 agreements which contained standard arbitration clauses, it was appropriate to require the members to arbitrate the dispute. Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc., 127 Wn. App. at 398. However, neither of those situations were applicable in that case. There was nothing to specifically reference the voluntary organization's by-laws into the parties' oral employment contract. The Court correctly concluded under common law contract principles that absent an intent by the parties to the subsequent employment contract to be bound the arbitration provision in the earlier contract, that the Court would not imply that intent.

Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc., 127 Wn. App. at 399-400.

A substantial body of law has addressed the issue where parties have entered into several written agreements, at least one of which provided for arbitration and others of which did not. Arbitrability in such a situation depends upon whether the agreement remained distinct and separate from the agreement containing the arbitration clause. See Necchi S.p.A. v. Necchi Sewing Machine Sales Corp., 348 F.2d 693, 698 (2d Cir.1965), cert. den., 383 U.S. 909, 86 S.Ct. 892, 15 L.Ed.2d 664 (1966). The court in David L. Threlkeld & Co., supra, explained the Necchi S.p.A. v. Necchi Sewing Machine Sales Corp., 348 F.2d 693 holding as follows:

Necchi S.p.A., a foreign manufacturer of sewing machines, had entered into an exclusive distributorship agreement with Necchi Sewing Machine Sales Corporation ("Sales Corporation") in 1961. The agreement provided for arbitration of "[a]ll matters, disputes or disagreements arising out of or in connection with" the agreement. The Sales Corporation sought to compel arbitration pursuant to the 1961 agreement of, inter alia, a dispute stemming from a separate 1958 agreement which required Necchi to assume the Sales Corporation's obligations under certain licensing arrangements between the Sales Corporation and a third party. We refused to order arbitration of the claims that arose out of the licensing agreement, concluding that the 1958 contract, which did not provide for arbitration, had "remained distinct and separate from the 1961 containing exclusive distributorship agreement arbitration provision." Id. at 698.

David L. Threlkeld & Co., 923 F.2d at 252.

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