FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/21/2017 3:06 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 94675-2

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON (Court of Appeals, Division III Cause No. 346927)

SVN CORNERSTONE, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Petitioner,

v.

N. 807 INCORPORATED, a Washington corporation, d/b/a BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY HOMESERVICES FIRST LOOK REAL ESTATE; KENNETH M. LEWIS AND MICHELLE S. LEWIS, and the marital community composed thereto; HENRY SEIPP AND JANE DOE SEIPP, and the marital community composed thereof,

	Respondents.	
RESPONDENTS' ANSWER	TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. Cornerstone Fails to Establish Grounds for Acceptance of Review.

Cornerstone fails to establish grounds upon which the Supreme Court of Washington should review the Court of Appeals decision. RAP 13.4(b). "A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a public decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Id. Cornerstone argues that the Court of Appeals'

decision is in direct conflict with Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc., 127 Wn. App. 393 (Div. I, 2005), rev. denied, 156 Wn.2d 1025 (2006). However, the Court of Appeals' decision at issue is an unpublished case, which has "no precedential value" and is "not binding upon any court." RAP 14.1(a). Thus, it is not capable of being in direct conflict with a published decision such as Todd. Id. Had the Court of Appeals intended for its decision to have "precedential value" it would have been "published as [an] opinion[] of the court." RCW 2.06.040. Furthermore, the Court of Appeal's decision at issue is not in direct conflict with <u>Todd</u>, as it is factually and legally distinguishable, as set forth below. The decision of the Court of Appeals is directly in line with a recent Court of Appeals' decision, that distinguishes Todd, Marcus & Millichap Real Estate Inv. Servs. Of Seattle, Inc. v. Yates, Wood & MacDonald, Inc., 192 Wn. App. 465, rev. denied, 185 Wn.2d 1041 (2016). Thus, Cornerstone's Petition for Review should be denied because it fails to establish grounds for acceptance of review.

### B. De Novo Review.

This court engages in de novo review of a trial court's decision granting or denying a motion to compel arbitration.

Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC, 167 Wn. App. 781, 797 (2009).

"The court shall decide whether . . . a controversy is subject to an agreement to arbitrate." RCW 7.04A.060(2). This is a "threshold legal question" that the court determines by "examining the arbitration agreement without inquiry in to the merits of the dispute." Marcus & Millichap, 192 Wn. App. 474 (emphasis added).

When a motion is made pursuant to RCW 7.04A to compel arbitration, the court's only inquiries are whether the arbitration provision is valid and whether the present dispute falls within the scope of that arbitration provision. RCW 7.04A.060, .070; see e.g., Marcus & Millichap, 192 Wn. App. at 472-473. Likewise, the court has a duty to make these decisions, summarily. Id. When in doubt, Washington's strong policy in favor of arbitration compels the court to resolve disputes in favor of arbitration. Peninsula Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Pub. Sch. Emps. of Peninsula, 130 Wn.2d 401, 414 (1996). If the dispute can fairly be said to invoke a claim covered by the provision, the courts inquiry must end. Heights at Issaquah Ridge v. Burton Landscape Grp., Inc., 148 Wn. App. 400, 403 (2009).

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Not in Direct Conflict with the Published Division I Court of Appeals' Decision Todd v. Venwest Yachts, Inc.

Cornerstone continues to ignore the broad scope of Washington's Uniform Arbitration Act, chapter 7.04A RCW, and

instead relies upon its argument that Todd is applicable to the present dispute. However, as correctly discussed by the Court of Appeals, Todd is entirely distinguishable from the case at hand and is not in direct conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision. (Br. of Pet. at A9). In Todd, Division I held that an arbitration provision found in the bylaws of a voluntary organization does not become part of an *employment relationship* in the absence of an intent that the employment relationship be bound thereby. 127 Wn. App. at 399. There, an employee sued his former employer for commissions he alleged he was owed. <u>Id</u>. at 395. The employer moved to dismiss, arguing that the employee was required to arbitrate his dispute according to the bylaws of the Northwest Yacht Broker's Association ("NYBA"), a voluntary organization that both the employer and employee were members of. <u>Id</u>. The NYBA bylaws stated, "[w]hen a dispute arises between members, between members and a nonmember, or between members and the public" the dispute shall be arbitrated. Id. at 396. However, the Todd court specifically determined that the parties did not intend to be bound by the NYBA in their employment **relationship**. Id. And, as discussed by the Court of Appeals, here, the scope of the arbitration provision in <u>Todd</u> was inexplicably broad rendering intent undeterminable. (Br. of Pet. at A9). The scope of the arbitration provision at issue in Todd rendered any dispute involving a NYBA member to be submitted to arbitration, whether the dispute was with another NYBA member, or not. Id. at 396.

Cornerstone contends that the Court of Appeals erred when it looked at the language of the arbitration clause in the NYBA bylaws to determine its intended scope. (Br. of Pet. at 9). Yet, when determining whether claims are subject to an arbitration agreement, courts must answer two questions: (1) whether the arbitration agreement is valid; and (2) if valid, whether the scope of the agreement encompasses the claims asserted. Wiese v. Cach, LLC, 189 Wn. App. 466, 4674 (2015)(citing Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-<u>Plymouth, Inc., 473 U.S. 614, 627-28, 105 S. Ct. 3346, 87 L. Ed. 2d</u> 444 (1985)); see also RCW 7.04A.060(2). ("The court shall decide whether an agreement to arbitrate exists or a controversy is subject to an agreement to arbitrate."). The Court of Appeals properly distinguished the arbitration clause at issue in Todd from the arbitration clause at issue here, as the intended scope of the arbitration clause at issue in Todd could not be determined, whereas the intended scope of the arbitration agreement in the CBA bylaws is clear.

As declared by Division I in 2016, "[f]orty-six years ago, this court set forth the principle that voluntary membership in a professional organization gives rise to a corresponding obligation to comply with that organization's bylaws." Marcus & Millichap, 192 Wn. App. at 469. Mr. Seipp's decision to join the CBA, thereby agreeing to be bound by its bylaws, after he left Cornerstone did not alter his independent contractor agreement. (Br. of Pet. at A12). And, as correctly reasoned by the Court of Appeals, even if membership in CBA altered or amended the terms of the independent contractor agreement, a contract may be modified or abrogated by the parties in any manner they choose, notwithstanding provisions the prohibiting in contract modification or abrogation. Id. (citing Columbia Park Golf Course, Inc. v. City of Kennewick, 160 Wn. App. 66, 82 (2011)).

In this case, Cornerstone, Mr. Seipp, and Berkshire all agreed to be bound by CBA's bylaws. (CP 25-28). Thus, as determined by the Court of Appeals, the broad scope of the CBA arbitration provision applies to all of Cornerstone's claims

involving commissions or fees allegedly lost as a result of the acts of Respondents. (Br. of Pet. at A2).

# D. The Court of Appeals' Decision is in Line with the 2016 Marcus & Millichap Decision from Division I.

Washington's Uniform Arbitration Agreement ("UAA"), enacted in 2006, governs the validity of arbitration agreements entered into on or after January 1, 2006. RCW 7.04A.030(1)(a). The UAA provides that "[a]n agreement contained in a record to submit to arbitration any existing or subsequent controversy arising between the parties is valid, enforceable, and irrevocable except upon a ground that exists at law of in equity for the revocation of a contract." RCW 7.04A.060(1).

An express agreement to arbitrate is not required. Marcus & Millichap, 192 Wn. App. at 474. For example, in Keith Adams, a dispute related to commission arose between a real estate broker and his brokerage over the sale of an apartment complex. Keith Adams & Assoc., Inc. v. Edwards, 3 Wn. App. 623, 624 (1970). The broker disagreed with his brokerage's allocation of the commission paid on the sale. Id. Both the broker and the brokerage were voluntary members of the Tri-City Board of Realtors. Id. Thus, the broker filed a complaint with the board pursuant to the Board's bylaws. Id. At the conclusion of the arbitration, the brokerage

petitioned the superior court to vacate the arbitrator's award. <u>Id</u>. at 624-25. In response, the broker moved the court to dismiss the brokerage's petition and confirm the award. <u>Id</u>. at 625. The superior court granted the motion to dismiss and confirmed the arbitrator's award. <u>Id</u>. Thereafter, the brokerage appealed to this court, Division III. <u>Id</u>. The <u>Keith Adams</u> court held that voluntary membership in the board constituted a binding agreement to arbitrate disputes pursuant to the board's bylaws. <u>Id</u>.

In Marcus & Millichap, Yates, Wood & MacDonald, Inc., ("Yates") a real estate brokerage firm, asserted that it was entitled to a portion of the commission earned by Marcus & Millichap, a real estate brokerage firm, that had an exclusive listing agreement to sell an apartment complex. Id. at 469-70. Both of the real estate brokerage firms were members of the Commercial Brokers Association. Id. at 470. Yates initiated arbitration proceedings against Marcus & Millichap seeking one-half of the commission earned by Marcus & Millichap on the sale of the property. Id. at 471. Before CBA arbitration commenced, Marcus & Millichap filed a complaint for declaratory relief claiming that no arbitration agreement existed between the parties. Id. The parties then filed cross-motions for relief. Id. Marcus & Millichap moved to stay

arbitration, and Yates filed a motion to compel arbitration. Id. The superior court found a valid arbitration agreement, granted Yates' motion to compel arbitration, and dismissed the lawsuit. Id. Applying the holding of Keith Adams, the Marcus & Millichap court held that the "CBA bylaw provision constitutes a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement between the parties..." Id. at 480 (emphasis added). Division I affirmed the trial court's ruling. Id. at 482. And, the Supreme Court of Washington denied review of that decision. Marcus & Millichap, 192 Wn. App. 465, review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1041 (2016).

Here the same CBA bylaw provision mandating arbitration of disputes involving commission is at issue:

It is the duty of the members of CBA (and each so agrees) to submit all controversies involving commissions between or among them to binding arbitration by CBA pursuant to its then current arbitration rules and policies, rather than to bring a suit to law. The foregoing includes controversies which arose prior to one of the parties becoming a member.

(CP 30-32). All of the parties to the present dispute are voluntary CBA members who agreed to be bound by CBA's bylaws. (CP 25-28). Thus, as held by Marcus & Millichap, the CBA arbitration agreement is valid and enforceable between the parties. Marcus & Millichap, 192 Wn. App. at 480.

Nearly all of Cornerstone's alleged claims against the Respondents fall squarely within the language of the CBA bylaw arbitration provision because Cornerstone's entire lawsuit revolves around one central allegation: "Cornerstone lost the opportunity to obtain a commission of 3% of the gross sale price of \$2,100,000 for the Property, which would have been the principal amount of \$63,000." (CP 8)(emphasis added). Thus, the Court of Appeals properly reversed the trial court's denial of the motion to compel and remanded to the trial court for entry of an order in line with the Court of Appeals' decision that all of Cornerstone's claims that seek to recover commissions or fees lost as result of the acts of the alleged Respondents are subject to CBA arbitration and Cornerstone's claims that fall outside of the CBA arbitration provision's broad scope, alleged claims of trade secret may be litigated in the trial court.

### E. Agency Principles Do Not Require Mr. Lewis and Berkshire to Litigate Their Dispute with Cornerstone.

Berkshire and Mr. Lewis are not bound to litigate the present dispute. Cornerstone relies upon a number of inapplicable cases, arguing that Berkshire and Mr. Lewis are bound by the resolution procedure outlined in Mr. Seipp's

contract with Cornerstone because of the legal theory of agency. (Petitioner's Brief, p. 15).

For example, in <u>Powell v. Sphere Drake Ins. P.L.C.</u>, a seaman sued the owners of the vessel he was working on when he suffered an injury. 97 Wn. App. 890, 892 (1999). After obtaining a judgment and finding that the owner had no assets to satisfy the judgment, he sued the owners' insurer. <u>Id.</u> at 893. The insurance contract between the owner and the insurer contained a mandatory arbitration clause. <u>Id.</u> The issue before the court was whether the seaman, who was not a party to the insurance contract, was required to arbitrate his claims against the insurer. <u>Id.</u> at 894. The <u>Powell</u> court held that the seaman was not required to arbitrate his claims because his claims were statutory claims not based on the insurance policy itself. <u>Id.</u> at 895-96.

Here, Berkshire and Mr. Lewis seek to ensure that the valid and binding CBA arbitration clause which provides for arbitration of all claims involving commission whether they arose prior to or after becoming a CBA member is enforced. (CP 42-55). Furthermore, Cornerstone asserts claims against both Berkshire and Mr. Lewis that do not arise out of its contract with Mr. Seipp. (CP 474-77). Cornerstone argues that Berkshire and Mr. Lewis,

who are not parties to Mr. Seipp's independent contractor agreement, "are bound to litigate this case since there is not an provision in the Independent arbitration Contractor Agreement." (Petitioner's Brief, p. 15). This argument is entirely nonsensical. In its First Amended Complaint, Cornerstone asserts independent claims entirely unrelated to the independent contractor agreement against Berkshire and Mr. Lewis: unjust enrichment, tortious interference with business relations, violation of Uniform Trade Secrets Act, conversion, and civil conspiracy. (CP 474-77). The cases cited by Cornerstone are entirely inapplicable to the case at hand and do not stand for the proposition that Cornerstone has the right to compel litigation based upon agency principals. Thus, as set forth herein, neither the independent contractor agreement nor agency principles require Berkshire and Mr. Lewis to litigate all of Cornerstone's claims against them. As CBA members, Berkshire and Mr. Lewis have a right to compel arbitration of all of Cornerstone's claims against them involving commissions or fees lost as a result of the alleged acts of the Respondents.

### F. Equitable Estoppel Does Not Prohibit Arbitration.

Berkshire and Mr. Lewis are not equitably estopped from enforcing the arbitration provision of the CBA bylaws. Cornerstone relies upon Townsend v. Quadrant Corp., 173 Wn.2d 451 (2012), to support its argument that Berkshire and Mr. Lewis should be equitably estopped from compelling arbitration because the contract between Mr. Seipp and Cornerstone provides for litigation as the dispute resolution process. (Br. of Pet. at 17-20). In order to establish equitable estoppel, Cornerstone must show by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that: (1) Berkshire and Mr. Lewis said or did something on which it relied; (2) that it relied on Berkshire or Mr. Lewis's statement or conduct; and (3) that it would be injured if Berkshire or Mr. Lewis were allowed to contradict that statement or conduct now. Berschauer/Phillips Const. Co. v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 124 Wn.2d 816, 831 (1994); WPI § 302.05. Cornerstone altogether fails to address what conduct or words of Berkshire and/or Mr. Lewis that it relied upon to its detriment. (Respondent's Brief, pp. 37-39).

In <u>Townsend</u>, the Supreme Court of Washington found that equitable estoppel applied to impose a Purchase and Sale Agreement's arbitration clause upon the children of manufactured home purchasers who asserted identical causes of action as their parents against the seller arising out of the Purchase and Sale Agreement. 173 Wn.2d at 461. Id. There is entirely no evidence to support Cornerstone's contention that Berkshire and Mr. Lewis exploited or in any way benefited from the contract between Cornerstone and Mr. Seipp. Thus, neither the independent contractor agreement nor equitable estoppel create a duty to litigate.

### G. RAP 18.1 – Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs.

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